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A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Steven Lodis, petitioner here and appellant below, asks this Court 

to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review 

designated in Part B of this petition. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Mr. Lodis seeks review of the published opinion of the Court of 

Appeals entered on December 28, 2015 ("the Opinion" or "Op."). A copy 

of the Opinion is in the Appendix, attached at pages A-1 through A-30. 1 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

Issue No. 1: Is an issue of substantial public interest presented 

when the Court of Appeals adopts and applies the after-acquired evidence 

affirmative defense articulated by the United States Supreme Court to 

cases brought under the Washington Law Against Discrimination? 

Issue No.2: Is the Court of Appeals statement, "An employer 

can avoid back pay and other remedies by coming forward with after­

acquired evidence of an employee's misconduct, ... if it can prove ... that 

the wrongdoing was of such severity that the employee in fact would have 

been terminated on those grounds alone if the employer had known of it at 

the time of the discharge" (A-25-A-26) in conflict with the Supreme 

Court statement, "An employer may be motivated by multiple purposes, 

1 The Court of Appeals denial ofLodis's motion for reconsideration is attached as A-31. 



both legitimate and illegitimate, when making employment decisions and 

still be liable under the WLAD" in Scrivener v. Clark Coll., 181 Wn.2d 

439, 447, 334 P.3d 541 (2014)? 

Issue No. 3: Does the Court of Appeals' opinion, affirming the 

admission of a prior jury verdict on a breach of fiduciary duty 

counterclaim based on finding that the verdict was the law of the case and 

was "relevant" to Corbis's after-acquired evidence defense (A-24- A-25), 

conflict with Division III's decision in Roper v. Mabry, 15 Wn. App. 819, 

820-23, 551 P.2d 1381; conflict with Division II's decision in MGIC Fin. 

Corp. v. H. A. Briggs Co., 24 Wn. App. 1, 8, 600 P.2d 573 (1979); and 

conflict with the Supreme Court decision in In re Det. of Pouncy, 168 

Wn.2d 382, 392-94, 229 P.3d 678 (2010)? 

Issue No.4: Did the Court of Appeals' decision conflict with the 

Supreme Court's decision in Brundridge v. Fluor Federal Servs., Inc., 164 

Wn.2d 432,444-46, 191 P.3d 879 (2008)? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Factual Background. 

In July 2005, Steve Lodis began working for Corbis as Vice 

President of Worldwide Human Resources. 5/21 RP at 14. "By all 

accounts, [Corbis's] HR function by the time Steve Lodis took the position 

of VP was in somewhat of a state of disarray." CP 1 069. 
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In about April 2007, Gary Shenk became CEO of Corbis. 5/21 RP 

at 15; see also CP 401. Shenk was 37 years old? He conducted a midyear 

performance evaluation of Steve Lodis in summer of 2007 that was 

glowing, calling Lodis a "trusted advisor," that Lodis "took a department 

that was in shambles, and built up a good team," and that Lodis was "a 

beacon of 'calm' and 'normalcy'- ending the madness and hyperactivity 

of many Corbis activities." Ex. 47; 5/15 RP at 76-77. Shenk announced 

Lodis's promotion to "SVP, Human Resources" on November 7, 2007. 

Ex. 53. At the time, Shenk "believed Lodis was the man for the job." 5115 

RP at 133. However, less than four months later on March 26, 2008, 

Shenk terminated Lodis, allegedly "for cause." 5/15 RP at 201. 

After becoming CEO, Shenk made many comments indicating his 
preference for younger workers. He talked about older workers 
being 'out of touch,' 'an old-timer,' 'grandmotherly,' or 'the old 
guy on [the] team.' Shenk also expressed interest to Lodis in hiring 
younger workers for his executive team. Lodis spoke with Shenk 
on several occasions about Shenk's age related comments. Lodis 
explained that there was a growing concern among Corbis 
employees about Shenk's comments. As the highest ranking HR 
officer at Corbis, Lodis reminded Shenk that age should not be a 
factor in hiring or firing employees. 

Op., at A-2, quoting Lodis I, 172 Wn. App. at 842-43. 

"Lodis testified that, in late November or early December 2007, he 

admonished Shenk for a fifth time after Shenk expressed that he wished to 

2 Op., at 2, quoting Lodis v. Corbis Holdings, Inc., 172 Wn. App. 835, 842, 292 P.3d 779 
(2013) ("Lodis 1"). 
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replace the then-senior vice president of Corbis' s 'Green Light Division' 

[Mark Sherman] with a 'young Hollywood type."' Op., at A-5; 5/21 RP at 

25. CEO Shenk, for his part, denied Lodis ever once admonished him. See 

Op., at A-4-A-6. Lodis testified that in early December 2007, he went to 

Senior VP and General Counsel Jim Mitchell to report his concerns about 

Shenk's terminations of older employees: Wil Merritt, David Bradley, Sue 

McDonald, and Mark Sherman, and Shenk's age-based comments ("I 

want to replace him with a young Hollywood type," referencing Mark 

Sherman). 5/21 RP at 26-27; Lodis I, 172 Wn.App. at 843, n.1, quoting CP 

2521. Mitchell denied such conversation ever occurred. Op., at A-6. 

On December 26, 2007, Shenk contacted consultant Dawn McNab 

to do a "360" evaluation of his executive team, but in a violation of 

convention, Shenk wanted the evaluation done to create data for a 

performance review. 5/15 RP at 93-95; 5/20 RP at 104-05 (2/25110 RP at 

31, 45-46). McNab opposed this idea because a 360, where information is 

provided anonymously, is supposed to provide a safe environment for 

constructive input. 2/25/10 RP at 13, 19-20,22-23, 44-45; see also 5115 

RP at 137-38, 190. Waldron and Company, for whom McNab worked as a 

consultant, later disavowed her work on this 360. Ex. 118. 

Shenk focused on Lodis and Mark Sherman. Ex. 88. In another 

break from procedure, Shenk selected which members of his executive 
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team would be interviewed for the 360 evaluation of Lodis. Ex. 71; 5/21 

RP at 30-31; CP 2522 (~ 32). Shenk picked Kirsten Lawlor and Jim 

Mitchell, both of whom were Lodis detractors. Ex. 71; 5/15 RP at 83-84; 

CP 2522; Ex. 367. Shenk ignored the positive evaluations and asked 

McNab to make a list of Lodis' s "weaknesses," which she did, and again 

which was not a part of a normal practice. CP 2767-71. Again, in a 

departure of usual procedures, Shenk asked for and obtained McNab's 

notes, which are not usually shared with management, of her interviews 

with Kirsten Lawlor and others. 2/25110 RP at 46-47. Shenk only asked 

McNab for the interview notes concerning one person: Lodis. Id. This was 

in January 2008 timeframe-the month after Shenk signed the letter 

congratulating Lodis on his promotion to Senior VP. Id. at 48; Ex. 61. 

Allegedly based on the 360 evaluation results, Shenk put Lodis on 

a Performance Improvement Plan ("PIP"). 5/15 RP at 152. When Shenk 

told McNab that he wanted to use the material generated in the 360 

evaluation to put Mr. Lodis on a PIP, she again told Shenk that "360's 

were normally not used in that way." 2/25110 RP at 49. Shenk gave Lodis 

the PIP on March 6, 2008. 5115 RP at 172. The PIP contained numerous 

inaccurate statements and findings with which Lodis disagreed. See 5/21 

RP at 40-72, 83-86; CP 2524-60. Mr. Lodis systematically rebuts all of the 

allegations in the PIP. Id. As part of the PIP, Shenk directed Lodis to meet 
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with his subordinates regarding his 360. 5115 RP at 189-91; Ex. 98 at 2-3; 

CP 2536-37. Lodis met with his staff and had brief meetings with his 

peers, then reported to Shenk what happened. 5/21 RP at 38-39, 190-92. 

On March 26, 2008, Shenk terminated Lodis "for cause," allegedly 

for lying about the content of the meetings with his direct reports. 5/15 RP 

at 201, 204; Ex. 438 at 2. Days later (on or before April2, 2008), Corbis 

reviewed Lodis's vacation recordation and his Outlook calendar and 

determined that Lodis had failed to report vacation he took, but had 34 

days (or 272 hours) visible on his calendar. See Ex. 108. "Another 

executive of the company, Barry Allen, failed to document 15 days of 

vacation and has not been terminated or even reprimanded." CP 27 

(Order). The executive assistant to Mr. Allen, who had knowledge of his 

work calendar, including vacation entries, as well as his vacation schedule, 

testified that she reported his vacation usage into the vacation reporting 

system. CP 3264-65 (,-r 4), CP 3306-14. Although Corbis General Counsel, 

Jim Mitchell, was informed Lodis had not reported any vacation usage, the 

company paid Lodis a gross vacation time payout of $41 ,55 5 plus a 401 k 

match of $1,235, for 329 hours of accrued but unused vacation time on 

April 11, 2008. See Ex. 1 08; CP 3270; Lodis I, 172 Wn. App. at 845. 

2. Procedural Background. 

Lodis then filed an RCW 49.60.210 claim for retaliation. See Lodis 
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I, 172 Wn. App. at 844. His claim was premised on being terminated after 

he complained about Shenk potentially discriminating against other 

executives based on age. See id. at 843-44. Alternatively, Lodis claimed 

that he was terminated based on age. Id. The trial court granted summary 

judgment on the retaliation claim, concluding "Lodis was not engaged in 

statutorily protected activity under RCW 49.60.210, because he was 

simply performing his job duties by warning Shenk about the potential age 

discrimination." Id. The Court of Appeals disagreed, declining to strip the 

Senior VP of HR and others whose job duties include "ensuring ... 

compliance with federal and state employment laws" of the protections 

afforded by RCW 49.60.21 0. Id. at 850-52. 

Before the Court of Appeals reinstated Lodis's retaliation claim, 

two trials took place. In the first trial, the jury rendered a verdict on 

Lodis's age discrimination claim and on counterclaims filed by Corbis. Id. 

at 842, 845. The counterclaims were based on the fact that "Lodis failed to 

record any vacation time in the payroll system during his tenure, but 

accepted a payout of$41,155 plus a 401(k) match of$1,235 for 329 hours 

of accrued but unused vacation time" after Corbis terminated him. I d., at 

845. The first jury found Corbis and Shenk did not discriminate against 

Lodis based on his age. Ex. 484. As to the counterclaims, the first jury 

found Lodis was not unjustly enriched and did not engage in fraud. Lodis 
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l, 172 Wn. App. at 845. On the breach of fiduciary duty counterclaim, the 

first verdict favored Corbis, but awarded no damages. Id. A new trial was 

granted on that counterclaim. I d. The second jury found Lodis did not 

breach his fiduciary duty by receiving and retaining a March 2006 bonus, 

but did breach his fiduciary duty by failing to report vacation time he used 

and receiving a payout for allegedly unused vacation time after he was 

terminated. Id., at 845-46. As damages, it awarded the full amount of the 

vacation payout, which Lodis repaid to Corbis. Id.; 5119 RP at 163. 

On remand for the first (and only) trial of the retaliation claim, 

Corbis asserted an after-acquired evidence defense and moved for 

summary judgment on the defense. See CP 27-28. In denying the motion, 

the court wrote, in part, "it has already been established that Lodis' failure 

to record any vacation time constituted a breach of fiduciary duty. [Lodis 

l], 172 Wn. App. [at] 861 ... however, no jury has ruled on the question of 

whether Corbis would have terminated Lodis had it known of his failure to 

report any vacation time." Id. The order acknowledged, "There is of 

course no requirement that the company establish breach of fiduciary duty 

in order to prevail on an after-acquired evidence theory." Id.; accord 5/13 

RP at 16-17 (The Court: "[W]e have two distinct issues here. One is: Did 

he violate, breach his fiduciary duty? ... That's not the issue in the context 

of the after-acquired evidence defense."); and 5/21 RP at 77 (same). 
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Corbis then filed a motion in limine to preclude re-litigation of 

Lodis' s breach of fiduciary duty and to introduce evidence of the verdict. 

CP 275-86. Corbis argued the "law of the case" and "collateral estoppel" 

doctrines barred relitigation of the "fact that Steven Lodis breached his 

fiduciary duty to Corbis." CP 280-82. Lodis opposed the motion, as the 

issues in the two cases were "not identical," and he objected to "admission 

of any evidence related to the vacation issue." See CP 344-50. The court 

granted Corbis' s motion, finding the "verdict against Lodis regarding 

breach of fiduciary duty is the law of the case," CP 3322, and that the jury 

would be allowed "to hear that a prior jury found that Mr. Lodis violated 

his breach of fiduciary duty by failing to record his vacation time." 5114 

RP at 4-5. The court's stated reason for admission of the verdict was that 

the after-acquired evidence defense put at issue whether Lodis's failure to 

record vacation time was "serious," such that "if [Corbis] had known 

about it, they would have terminated" Lodis; and the prior verdict was 

"clearly relevant to the seriousness issue." Id. The Court of Appeals 

adopted this reasoning in affirming the trial court's decision. Op., at A-26. 

Lodis separately filed a motion in limine to exclude all evidence 

related to his vacation time reporting, including the verdict on breach of 

fiduciary duty. See CP 789-99. Lodis argued the evidence should be 

excluded as irrelevant, arguing "Corbis cannot show any 'practice' of 
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terminating employees for not recording vacation .... Corbis' own 

witness, Vivian Farris, testified ... that it was not a terminable offense to 

fail to record vacation time, though it was a violation of company policy," 

CP 794 (citing 3/3110 RP at 63); that Shenk's "opinion testimony without 

more, cannot support the after acquired evidence defense," CP 794; and 

because "the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or 

misleading the jury outweighs any relevancy." CP 798. At the hearing on 

pre-trial motions, Lodis also argued evidence of the jury finding he 

breached his fiduciary duty required an ER 608 analysis and that the 

verdict did not meet the standard for admitting character evidence. 5/13 

RP at 23. The court denied Lodis' s motion in limine. 5/13 RP at 10-11. 

In opening statement, counsel for Corbis confused the issues and 

misstated the evidence, claiming "Shenk waited until he couldn't wait any 

longer to finally terminate Mr. Lodis for breaching his fiduciary duties and 

his duties of loyalty." 5115 RP at 44. Counsel further said, "Corbis had to 

sue Steve Lodis to get back more than $42,000 that he had accepted and 

retained for unused vacation pay. Corbis paid out this money after Steve 

Lodis was terminated because they didn't know he hadn't reported any of 

his vacation. The jury found that Lodis had breached his fiduciary duty by 

seeking to profit at the company's expense." Id. at 55. 

Counsel told the jury this was "important to understanding just 
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how credible or not Steve Lodis is." Id., at 56. Counsel claimed, "Lodis 

had been breaching his fiduciary duty almost every day that he was 

employed at Corbis" and "sought to profit at the company's expense." Id. 

at 69. Counsel told the jury, it is "up to you to ... determine who is telling 

the truth and who is trying to profit at someone else's expense." Id., at 71. 

He said Lodis "breached his fiduciary duty, and he got caught. He 

accepted a payment he wasn't entitled to, and he got caught. He tried to 

con Gary and Corbis, and he got caught." Id. During Shenk's examination 

by his counsel, Shenk said Lodis had been "stealing time." 5119 RP at 153. 

Counsel similarly criminalized Lodis, describing him as having 

been found "guilty" of breaching his fiduciary duty. 5/22 RP at 36. 

Counsel asked Lodis, inter alia: "You steadfastly denied under oath that 

you breached your fiduciary duties to Corbis?" 5/22 RP at 63; "you want 

this jury ... just like the two other juries, to believe you?" id., at 63; "you 

have two verdicts against you. You have been litigating this case for six 

years with nothing to show for it other than you had to write a check to 

Corbis." id., at 39; "Everything that you have just testified about regarding 

alleged age discrimination was stuff that you brought out in that [prior] 

case? ... We have already been here, right, and it resulted in a verdict 

against you? ... [T]he justifications you just offered? You made those in 

the second trial regarding your vacation and breach of fiduciary duty." id., 

11 



at 1 09; "You have every reason to fabricate your testimony in front of this 

jury in the hope of finally scoring a win, don't you, Mr. Lodis?" id., at 64. 

In closing, Corbis described Lodis, as "a person who testified 

under oath in front of you and in front of two separate juries and failed to 

convince them with his stories; that he still thinks somehow he can win. 

Sure enough, Steve Lodis is back for a third bite of the apple. I told you he 

would ask ... for millions of dollars based on his excuses and lies. Sure 

enough, that's what he is asking you to do, just as he asked two juries 

before you unsuccessfully." 5/29 RP at 155-56. "Steve Lodis ... denied 

that he told you any lies, ... just like he would deny he told any lies to any 

of the other juries." I d., at 157. "What did the jury say? They said Steve 

Lodis breached his fiduciary duty by failing to report all that." Id., at 174. 

"Would that same person who was willing to steal from the company, 

willing to steal time, willing to breach his fiduciary duty, would that 

person be willing to make up a story in order to get money from the 

company?" Id., at 184. "Two prior juries found against Steve Lodis; found 

in favor of Gary Shenk and Corbis. He is making the same allegations 

here, ladies and gentlemen. When is enough enough?" Id., at 186. After 

these arguments, the court instructed the jury "the prior jury verdict related 

to age discrimination against Mr. Lodis is no longer an issue." I d., at 187. 

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

12 



1. The Adoption of the After-Acquired Evidence Defense 
Presents Issues Of Substantial Public Interest. 

The Washington Law Against Discrimination "seeks to remedy an 

evil that ... 'menaces the institutions and foundation of a free democratic 

state."' Reese v. Sears, Roebuck & Co., 107 Wn.2d 563, 569 (1987), 

quoting RCW 49.60.010. "The overarching purpose of the law is to deter 

and to eradicate discrimination in Washington." Brown v. Scott Paper 

Worldwide Co., 143 Wn.2d 349, 360 (2001). "The legislature directs us to 

construe the WLAD liberally." Scrivener, 181 Wn.2d at 441. 

Divisions One and Three of the Court of Appeals have adopted a 

defense that limits economic damages to the victims of discrimination and 

retaliation when an employer uncovers "after-acquired evidence" of 

misconduct by the employee-plaintiff. See A-25-A-28, citing Janson v. N. 

Valley Hosp., 93 Wn. App. 892, 899-900,971 P.2d 67 (1999) (adopting 

standard stated in McKennon v. Nashville Banner Publ'g Co., 513 U.S. 

352,360-63, 115 S. Ct. 879, 130 L. Ed. 2d 852 (1995)). Such defense is 

harmful to the public and enforcement of the WLAD for several reasons: 

1) it invites employers to engage in invasive discovery practices that 
discourage employee claims and to present otherwise inadmissible 
evidence in court that unduly prejudices employees; 

2) it undercuts the law's effort to generate awareness of important 
social issues and lets employers off the hook for socially harmful 
behavior; 

3) it reinforces the notion that certain plaintiffs are less morally 
deserving than others of the court's intervention; and 
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4) it greatly disadvantages those employees who are most likely to 
need remedial action for harm suffered in the workplace, by 
subjecting them to a level of scrutiny not faced in the ordinary 
course of employment by other employees. 

Joseph Spadola, An Ad Hoc Rationalization of Employer Wrongdoing: The 

Dangers of the After-Acquired Evidence Defense, 102 Cal. L. Rev. 691, 

694-95 (2014). Several commentators have called for the defense to be 

abolished. See id.; see also Melissa Hart, Retaliatory Litigation Tactics: 

The Chilling Effects of "After-Acquired Evidence, " 40 Ariz. St. L.J. 401, 

435-38 (2008); and Sachin S. Pandya, Unpacking the Employee-

Misconduct Defense, 14 U. Pa. I. Bus. L. 867, 868 (2012) (concluding that 

"virtually no sound reason currently exists for adopting the defense ... 

because the defense, in its current forms, contravenes the restorative 

(make-whole) purposes of the work laws into which it has been read"). 

Enforcement of the WLAD is undermined by the defense, which 

allows employers to "derail the discussion about discrimination and start 

talking about whether [an otherwise irrelevant] company policy was 

violated," Hart, supra at 432-33, and "allows the employer to undermine 

the employee during trial in ways that the Rules of Evidence otherwise 

forbid as irrelevant and unduly prejudicial." Spadola, supra, at 722; see 

ER 608(b ).3 Thus, the defense has "precisely the chilling effect that the 

3 "ER 608 provides that specific instances of a witness's conduct, introduced for the 
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anti-retaliation ... law[s] were designed to prevent." Hart, supra, at 438. 

Every single WLAD case will be investigated for the potential of 

an after-acquired evidence defense, unless the Court determines the 

defense has no application to WLAD claims. See Hart, supra, at 425, 433, 

406 (stating "[t]he kind of conduct that most frequently supports the 

defense is reportedly common"-"[g]enerally [employers] will find 

something if they look hard enough"-and that as "the efficacy of the 

after-acquired evidence tactic has not escaped the attention of defense 

counsel, ... one can anticipate the extensive and effective use of the ... 

doctrine"). See also WilliamS. Waldo & Rosemary A. Mahar, Lost Cause 

and Found Defense: Using Evidence Discovered After an Employee's 

Discharge to Bar Discrimination Claims, 9 LAB.LA W. 31, 32, 40-42 

(1993) (advising defense counsel to "leave no stone untumed in ferreting 

out any evidence" of resume fraud or employment misconduct by 

conducting "a thorough post-termination investigation"); and McKennon, 

513 U.S. at 363 (recognizing that "[t]he concern that employers might as a 

routine matter undertake extensive discovery into an employee's 

background or performance on the job to resist claims under the Act is not 

purpose of attacking his or her credibility, may not be proved by extrinsic evidence, but 
may 'in the discretion of the court, if probative of truthfulness or untruthfulness, be 
inquired into [only] on cross examination of the witness ... concerning the witness' 
character for truthfulness or untruthfulness."' State v. O'Connor, 155 Wn.2d 335, 349, 
119 P .3d 806, (2005) (emphasis in original), quoting ER 608(b ). 
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an insubstantial one"). Thus, there is a substantial public interest in 

Washington courts' adoption ofthe after-acquired evidence defense. 

2. The Court of Appeals' Decisions Adopting the Defense Are In 
Conflict With The Supreme Court Decision in Scrivener. 

As adopted, the after-acquired evidence defense requires an 

employer to present evidence that the plaintiff-employee engaged in 

"wrongdoing ... of such severity that the employee would have been 

terminated on those grounds alone once the employer discovered the 

wrongdoing." Janson, 93 Wn. App. at 901.4 In the context of federal laws, 

such standard for limiting damages makes sense. The ADEA, for example, 

requires proof of "but-for" causation and does not allow "mixed-motive" 

claims of age discrimination. Gross v. FBL Fin. Servs., Inc., 557 U.S. 167, 

129 S. Ct. 2343, 174 L. Ed. 2d 119 (2009). The "but for" standard likewise 

applies to Title VII retaliation claims. Univ. of Texas Sw. Med. Ctr. v. 

Nassar, 133 S. Ct. 2517,2528, 186 L. Ed. 2d 503 (2013). Similarly, in 

Title VII claims for discrimination (e.g., based on race, gender, etc.), 

[T]hc employer has a limited affirmative defense that ... restricts 
the remedies available to a plaintiff . . . [to] include only 
declaratory relief, certain types of injunctive relief, and attorney's 
fees and costs. [42 U.S.C.] § 2000e-5(g)(2)(B). In order to avail 

4 The standard adopted for the defense leaves claimants worse off than other employees 
outside their protected class, as it "give[ s] the employer the benefit of information that it 
would not have gotten absent the supra-informational state of litigation" and disregards 
the fact that acts supporting the defense generally "would have gone undiscovered absent 
the employee's claim." See Spadola, supra, at 695, 715-17, 723. 
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itself of the affirmative defense, the employer must 'demonstrat[ e] 
that [it] would have taken the same action in the absence of the 
impermissible motivating factor.' Ibid. 

Desert Palace. Inc. v. Costa, 539 U.S. 90,94-95, 123 S. Ct. 2148, 156 L. 

Ed. 2d 84 (2003). 

The WLAD, however, is substantively different from these federal 

laws, in terms of its causation standard and the scope of its protection and 

remedies. Unlike Title VII, the text of the WLAD does not authorize any 

"same action" defense; and the "but for" standard has repeatedly been 

rejected by the Court for WLAD discrimination and retaliation claims, 

adopting instead the "substantial factor" standard. See, e.g., Allison v. 

Hous. Auth. of City of Seattle, 118 Wn.2d 79, 84, 85-88, 821 P.2d 34, 38 

(1991) (rejecting "but for" standard, stating "Title VII differs from R.C.W. 

49.60 in that Title VII does not contain a provision which requires liberal 

construction for the accomplishment of its purposes"); and see Scrivener, 

181 Wn.2d at 44 7 ("It is the plaintiffs burden at trial to prove that 

discrimination was a substantial factor in an adverse employment action, 

not the only motivating factor. An employer may be motivated by multiple 

purposes, both legitimate and illegitimate, when making employment 

decisions and still be liable under the WLAD."). See also Mackay v. 

Acorn Custom Cabinetry, Inc., 127 Wn.2d 302, 317, 898 P.2d 284 (1995) 

(Madsen, J. dissenting) (stating majority's rejection of federal standard, 
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which limited damages if the employer proved "same decision would have 

been made in the absence of the illegal discriminatory reason," leads to "a 

vastly different result" in WLAD cases). Thus, the after-acquired evidence 

defense is not simply bad public policy; it is inconsistent with state law.5 

3. The Opinion Permitting Admission of "Relevant" Jury 
Verdicts Is In Conflict With Decisions Requiring That Issues 
Be "Identical" For Preclusion to Apply. 

"[l]t has long been settled that preclusion ordinarily is an all-or-

nothing thing. The prior determination either precludes any further dispute 

about the matter, or it is irrelevant and cannot be admitted even as some 

evidence bearing on the matter." Wright and Miller, Federal Practice & 

Procedure§ 4416 (2d ed.). In Roper v. Mabry, 15 Wn. App. 819, 820-23, 

551 P.2d 1381, "Mr. Mabry made statements to others that Mr. Roper was 

a 'thief who 'stole' and 'embezzled' corporate money, thus giving rise to 

the present action for slander." Id., at 820. Mabry asked the court to admit 

findings of fact from a prior civil judgment, that "Roper had wrongfully 

taken money, breached his fiduciary duty, and committed fraud." Id., at 

820-21. The court refused to admit these findings; and the jury awarded 

Roper damages for slander. I d. The exclusion of the breach of fiduciary 

duty and other findings was affirmed, as "the issues decided in the prior 

5 As this issue "raises serious public policy questions, this court is warranted in 
addressing the issue whether or not it was raised in the trial court." Marshall v. 
Higginson, 62 Wn. App. 212,216, n.3, 813 P.2d 1275 (1991). 
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action are not identical to those in the present action." Id., at 822. It was 

not enough to be relevant. The court further held that admitting the 

"findings would mislead the jury, confuse the issues and work an injustice 

to the plaintiff'; thus, the requisites for issue preclusion were not met. Id. 

The issues decided in the two trials before Lodis I were not 

"identical" to any issue presented in the retaliation trial. "There is of 

course no requirement that the company establish breach of fiduciary duty 

in order to prevail on an after-acquired evidence theory." CP 28 (Order); 

5/13 RP at 16-17; 5/21 RP at 77. Similar to collateral estoppel, the law of 

the case doctrine "generally applies only to parties who raise identical 

issues," MGIC, 24 Wn. App. at 8. Yet, Lodis II permits the law ofthe case 

doctrine to apply when the prior verdict was only "relevant," not identical, 

to the after-acquired evidence defense. See Op., at A-26. As neither of the 

verdicts (Ex. 484 and 485) was identical to any ultimate fact at issue in the 

trial of the retaliation claim, neither should have been admitted as "prima 

facie or conclusive evidence." See Seattle-First Nat. Bank v. Cannon, 26 

Wn. App. 922, 928 (1980). "[M]ost courts forbid the mention of verdicts 

... obtained in former or related cases." Engquist v. Oregon Dep't of 

Agric., 478 F.3d 985, 1010 (9th Cir. 2007) (stating "[a] jury is likely to 

give a prior verdict ... more weight than it warrants" and simply "defer to 

the earlier result"). In In re Det. of Pouncy, 168 Wn.2d 382, 392-94, 229 
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P.3d 678 (20 1 0), this Court held it was abuse of discretion to admit 

another judge's findings as to whether Pouncy's expert's methodologies 

were sufficient under the Frye test, as such admission "amounted to 

nothing more than allowing a judge to impeach a witness." I d. The Court 

found the evidence was irrelevant, unduly prejudicial under ER 403, and 

impinged upon the jury's role as the determiner of credibility." Id. Here, 

Corbis should not have been allowed to use the prior juries' findings in the 

manner the Court rejected in Pouncy for prior judicial findings. 

4. The Court of Appeals' Decision Conflicts With This Court's 
Decision in Brundridge. 

Shenk denied making "an ageist comment to anybody" and denied 

Lodis ever admonished him. See, e.g., 5/15 RP 72-73, 5119 RP 13-17. 

Lodis's testimony about discriminatory statements by Shenk beyond the 

comments for which he admonished Shenk is relevant evidence of intent 

that makes Lodis's testimony more believable and his belief he opposed 

discrimination more "reasonable." See Brundridge v. Fluor Fed. Servs., 

Inc., 164 Wn.2d 432,445, 191 P.3d 879 (2008) (evidence of employer 

treatment of other employees is not impermissible character evidence; 

rather it may be admissible to show motive or intent). ER 401 and 403. 

F. CONCLUSION 

For these reasons, the Court should grant review. 
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Respectfully submitted this 17th day ofMarch, 2016. 
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DWYER, J.- Trials matter. The results of trials matter. The manner in 

which a trial takes place, the evidence admitted, and the judicial rulings made all 

matter. In this case, the plaintiff, Steven Lodis, being already unhappy with the 

results of two separate jury trials arising from causes of action asserted in the 

complaint herein, finds himself similarly disaffected by the result of the third jury 

trial in this matter. In an effort to obtain yet a fourth jury trial in this cause, Lodis 

seeks to recharacterize and redefine numerous discretionary rulings made by the 

trial judge. As should be the case with all endeavors of this type, Lodis's entreaty 

"now meets the implacable gaze of the appellate court."1 We affirm. 

1 Green v. Normandy Park Riviera Section Cmty. Club, 137 Wn. App. 665, 680, 151 P.3d 
1038 (2007). 
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1. Lodis Sues Corbis; His Claims are Dismissed by the Trial Court or 
Rejected by the First Jury; A Second Jury Finds That Lodis Breached His 
Fiduciary Duty and Awards Damages to Corbis; Lodis Appeals. 

We summarized the facts preceding the first appeal herein in Lodis v. 

Corbis Holdings. Inc., 172 Wn. App. 835, 292 P.3d 779 (2013).2 

Corbis Corporation supplies digital images and stock 
photography worldwide. Steven Lodis was hired in 2005 by then­
chief-executive-officer (CEO) Steve Davis to serve as vice 
president of worldwide human resources (HR) for Corbis. In July 
2007, 37 year old Gary Shenk replaced Davis as CEO. Davis 
expressed concerns to Shenk about Lodis's performance. Instead 
of terminating Lodis, Shenk appointed Lodis to his nine person 
executive management team. Lodis was 55 at the time of the 
promotion. He initially received positive performance reviews from 
Shenk. 

After becoming CEO, Shenk made many comments 
indicating his preference for younger workers. He talked about 
older workers being "out of touch," "an old-timer," "grandmotherly," 
or "the old guy on [the] team." Shenk also expressed interest to 
Lodis in hiring younger workers for his executive team. 

Lodis spoke with Shenk on several occasions about Shenk's 
age related comments. Lodis explained that there was a growing 
concern among Corbis employees about Shenk's comments. As 
the highest ranking HR officer at Corbis, Lodis reminded Shenk that 
age should not be a factor in hiring or firing employees. Lodis 
explained later that he admonished Shenk, because he was "trying 
to protect [him]." In late 2007, Lodis expressed his concern about 
Shenk's comments to Corbis General Counsel Jim Mitchell. 
Around that same time, in late 2007 or possibly January 2008, 
Shenk promoted Lodis to senior vice president. Lodis also received 
a pay raise and incentive bonus at that time. 

In January 2008, Shenk organized executive team members 
and an independent consultant to conduct Lodis's annual 
performance review. The parties dispute the circumstances 
surrounding that performance review. Lodis alleges that Shenk 
specifically recruited Lodis detractors to compile a list of Lodis's 
faults and reasons to fire Lodis, because of Lodis's complaints to 
Shenk about the possible age discrimination. Corbis counters that 

2 Because the first appeal concerned, in part, the trial court's grant of summary judgment 
dismissal of Lodis's retaliation claim, our factual summary recited the facts in the light most 
favorable to Lodis. Lodis, 172 Wn. App. at 846. 
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the independent consultant found Shenk's reviews to be "off the 
charts negative," which precipitated Shenk putting Lodis on 
probation. 

Part of Lodis's probation required him to meet and discuss 
his working relationships with his colleagues. Shenk terminated 
Lodis for cause on March 26, 2008, for failing to meet the terms of 
his probation. Lodis allegedly lied to Shenk about meeting with the 
people who reported directly to him and failed to improve his 
relationship with them. Corbis claims this is the actual reason for 
Lodis's termination, along with ongoing performance issues and 
retaliation against another employee regarding a sexual 
harassment claim. Lodis counters that the performance review and 
probation were pretextual in order to fire Lodis for his complaints 
about Shenk's purported age discrimination. 

Three months after his termination, Lodis sued Corbis and 
Shenk, alleging age discrimination under RCW 49.60.180 and 
retaliation under RCW 49.60.21 0. Judge Michael Hayden granted 
Corbis's motion for summary judgment on the retaliation claim .... 
At trial, Judge Bruce Heller denied ... Lodis's requests to ... 
reinstate his retaliation claim. 

During discovery, Corbis ... discovered that Lodis failed to 
record any vacation time in the payroll system during his tenure, but 
accepted a payout of $41,155 plus a 401 (k) match of $1,235 for 
329 hours of accrued but unused vacation time. Based on this 
evidence, Corbis counterclaimed against Lodis for breach of 
fiduciary duty, unjust enrichment, and fraudulent misrepresentation. 
At trial, Mary Tomblinson, Corbis's payroll coordinator and HR 
system analyst, testified that Lodis used at least 35 more vacation 
days than he was entitled to. A summary of her analysis of those 
records was also admitted into evidence. 

Before the first trial, the trial court refused to decide as a 
matter of law whether Lodis owed a fiduciary duty, instead leaving 
the issue for the jury. The jury found that Corbis had not engaged 
in age discrimination. It found in favor of Lodis on the unjust 
enrichment and fraud counterclaims. However, the jury found that 
Lodis owed a fiduciary duty and breached that duty, but awarded 
no damages. The trial court granted a new trial on Corbis's breach 
of fiduciary duty counterclaim based on this incongruous result of 
liability but no damages. 

Before the second trial, Corbis moved for partial summary 
judgment to establish that Lodis was an officer with fiduciary duties. 
In its reply brief to that motion, Corbis introduced corporate 
resolutions indicating Lodis's status as an officer. Based on this 
evidence, Judge Heller found as a matter of law that Lodis was an 
officer. 

- 3-
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The second jury found that Lodis ... did breach his fiduciary 
duty by failing to record any vacation time and accepting the 
payout. The jury awarded damages in the full amount of the 
vacation payout: $42,389. 

Lodis, 172 Wn. App. at 842-46 (footnote omitted). 

2. Following Appeal, Lodis's Retaliation Claim is Remanded for Trial 
Before A Third Jury. 

On appeal following the second jury trial, we affirmed the prior judgments 

and jury verdicts regarding the age discrimination claim and the breach of 

fiduciary duty counterclaim, but reversed Judge Hayden's order granting 

summary judgment dismissal of Lodis's retaliation claim. Lodis, 172 Wn. App. at 

852. As a result, the retaliation claim was remanded for what would be the third 

trial in this action, held before Judge Heller in May 2014. 

3. Lodis's Retaliation Claim is Premised Upon Five Alleged 
Admonishments of Shenk. 

To establish a claim for retaliation under RCW 49.60.210, Lodis needed to 

prove that he had engaged in certain protected activity and that Corbis, in turn, 

took adverse employment action against him for having done so. Lodis, 172 Wn. 

App. at 846-47. Lodis alleged that his protected activity was comprised of 

admonishing Shenk on five separate occasions for making "ageist" comments. 

Corbis and Shenk denied that any of these admonishments ever occurred. 

Lodis testified that the first of the five alleged admonishments occurred 

sometime in the spring of 2007, after Shenk allegedly referred to Corbis's then-

director of compensation and benefits as the "old guy" on Lodis's human 

resources team. Lodis testified that he asked Shenk to "stop referring to [the 

employee] as 'the old man on the team."' Shenk denied ever referring to the 
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employee in that manner or ever being admonished by Lodis for doing so. 

Lodis next testified that in the spring or summer of 2007, he admonished 

Shenk for a second time after Shenk referred to his new executive team as a 

"young team,"3 which was brought to Lodis's attention by Corbis's then-human 

resources manager. Lodis also testified that he again admonished Shenk in 

August or September 2007 for referring to his executive team as a "young team," 

after Lodis (he claimed) discussed the issue with Corbis's then-CFO. Further, 

Shenk admitted that he referred to his executive team in that manner but stated 

that it had nothing to do with age and, rather, was meant "to express the passion, 

energy, and newness, the new thinking that those team members brought to the 

table." Further, Shenk denied that Lodis had ever discussed this issue with him. 

Lodis further testified that, in approximately November 2007, he 

admonished Shenk for a fourth time after Shenk referred to a Corbis employee-

who had been identified for possible termination as part of a reduction in force-

as "old." Shenk denied ever referring to the employee in that manner and denied 

that Lodis had ever discussed this issue with him. 

Finally, Lodis testified that, in late November or early December 2007, he 

admonished Shenk for a fifth time after Shenk expressed that he wished to 

replace the then-senior vice president of Corbis's "Green Light Division" with a 

"young Hollywood type." Shenk denied that he sought to replace the employee 

with a "young Hollywood type," although he acknowledged that he considered an 

3 The majority of the members of Shenk's executive team were over 40 years of age and 
several were over 50. 
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applicant for employment who resided in the Hollywood, California area.4 Shenk 

again denied that Lodis ever expressed any concerns regarding this issue to him. 

Lodis testified that, in early December 2007, he reported his concerns 

about Shenk's comments to Jim Mitchell, Corbis's then-general counsel. Mitchell 

denied that this conversation ever occurred. In any event, Lodis admitted that he 

had no knowledge as to whether Mitchell informed Shenk of his conversation 

with Lodis. 

At trial, Lodis introduced no written documents or corroborating testimony 

evidencing that any of the claimed admonishments took place. 5 

4. The Trial Court Enters Orders In Limine Restricting the Evidentiary 
Scope of the Trial to Lodis's Retaliation Claim. 

Prior to commencement of the third trial, Corbis filed motions in limine 

seeking to limit the scope of the trial to the one remaining claim at issue. 

Specifically, Corbis moved to preclude Lodis from attempting to use irrelevant 

and prejudicial evidence of alleged age discrimination, which had already been 

rejected by the jury in the first trial. Corbis also moved to preclude Lodis from 

attempting to relitigate the issue of whether he had breached a fiduciary duty 

owed to Corbis by failing to record vacation time-an issue central to Corbis's 

after-acquired evidence defense. Judge Heller granted each motion and entered 

orders limiting the admission of this evidence. 

4 This applicant was approximately the same age as the employee that, Lodis testified, 
Shenk sought to replace on account of his age. 

5 Lodis claims that he maintained documentation of the admonishments in his Corbis 
office files but that Corbis "destroyed" the documents after Lodis brought suit. At no time did 
Lodis seek relief from the trial court for such alleged spoliation of evidence. Corbis produced 
Lodis's notes during discovery and vehemently denied destroying or withholding any documents. 

- 6-
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a. The Trial Court Orders that Evidence of Alleged Age 
Discrimination Be Limited to the Five Alleged Admonishments. 

In its motion to preclude admission of certain evidence of alleged age 

discrimination, Corbis argued that evidence of alleged age discrimination not 

related to Lodis's claimed admonishments was inadmissible under the legal 

doctrines of law of the case and collateral estoppel, as well as pursuant to the 

applicable rules of evidence. Judge Heller did not accept Corbis's law of the 

case or collateral estoppel arguments but did grant Corbis's motion based upon 

its evidentiary arguments, reasoning as follows: 

The issue in the first motion is whether the same evidence of age 
discrimination that was introduced in the first trial to prove that 
Lodis' termination was based on his age is now admissible to prove 
retaliatory discharge. Lodis cites Brundridge[61 for the proposition 
that an employer's treatment of other employees is admissible to 
show retaliatory discharge. That's true, but the treatment of the 
other employees in Brundridge was retaliation, not any type of 
discriminatory behavior. Thus, Brundridge would allow Lodis to 
introduce evidence of retaliatory behavior by Shenk towards other 
employees. Lodis will also be permitted to introduce evidence 
concerning the alleged discriminatory behavior by Shenk that Lodis 
admonished Shenk about. But alleged ageist statements by Shenk 
that Lodis did not address with Shenk are inadmissible. Counsel 
will recall that during the first trial the court ruled that alleged sexist 
remarks by Shenk were not admissible to prove age discrimination. 
The same logic applies here with respect to the connection 
between ageist remarks and retaliatory motives. 

b. Lodis Repeatedly and Suffeptitiously Introduces Evidence 
Excluded by the Trial Court's Order, Prompting Admission of the First Jury 
Verdict. 

In conjunction with his ruling that Lodis would be limited to introducing 

evidence of alleged admonishments he made to Shenk, Judge Heller initially 

ruled that evidence of the age discrimination verdict from the first trial would be 

6 Brundridge v. Fluor Fed. Servs., Inc., 164 Wn.2d 432, 191 P.3d 879 (2008). 
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inadmissible. However, during trial, Lodis proceeded to introduce broad 

evidence and testimony of alleged age discrimination in contravention of the trial 

court's order. For example, Lodis repeatedly testified about and referred to the 

ages of members of Shenk's executive team and suggested that Shenk was 

motivated to make age-based employment decisions, even though there was no 

allegation that Lodis ever admonished Shenk for such actions. Lodis also 

suggested that Shenk had made "ageist" comments for which Lodis did not 

admonish him. 

On these occasions, Corbis objected to the admissibility of such evidence 

and asserted that, by suggesting that Shenk was an "ageist," Lodis had "opened 

the door" to the admissibility of evidence of the age discrimination verdict. The 

trial court repeatedly upheld its prior ruling excluding evidence of the age 

discrimination verdict, 7 while also cautioning Lodis's counsel that "he was taking 

a bit of a risk by going down th[at] road." 

Ultimately, on the fifth day of trial, after Lodis repeatedly elicited testimony 

suggesting both that Shenk was biased against older workers and had engaged 

in age discrimination, the trial court concluded that Lodis had opened the door to 

admission of evidence of the age discrimination verdict. 

I've spent a fair amount of time thinking about the issue of whether 
the prior jury verdict regarding age should come into evidence. As 
you know, my primary concern in ruling that it should stay out is I 
was concerned, as I indicated this morning, that if the jury was 
aware of that verdict, that they might make shortcuts and, for 
example, decide that if there is no basis for the age claim, then 
there is no basis for the retaliation claim. 

7 "I'm not going to make any rulings at this point as to whether or not the door has been 
opened on the age claim. At this point, I'll hold the line on that as well as what happens 
tomorrow." 
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However, there has been evidence, quite a bit of evidence, 
reg~rding age within. the context of the retaliation claim. I'm thinking 
particularly of the ev1dence that came in yesterday in the cross­
examination of Mr. Shenk regarding the fact that Mr. Shenk turned 
to Gillett, Brotman, and whoever the third member was of the 
executive team who were the younger members of the team, and 
the argument was that they wouldn't have stood up to him. That 
was one inference that could be drawn from it. I think that's an 
example of the jury hearing evidence regarding age and not 
knowing what to do with it. 

[Corbis's counsel] has persuaded me that just as Mr. Lodis 
needs to be protected from what I refer to as "shortcuts," I think 
Corbis also needs to be protected from the opposite thinking, which 
is, Well, we think that Mr. Shenk engaged in age discrimination by 
going to the younger members of the team, for example. 

So I think the jury needs some kind of a limiting instruction 
that tells them that the two issues are entirely separate. 

After ruling that evidence of the jury verdict was admissible, the trial court 

gave the jury a limiting instruction as follows: 

Members of the jury, during this trial, you have heard that a 
prior jury found Mr. Lodis's termination was not the result of age 
discrimination. You must keep in mind that this is a retaliation case, 
not an age discrimination case. The issue of whether the 
defendants engaged in age discrimination is not before you and 
should not be considered by you in evaluating Mr. Lodis's 
retaliation claim. 

With respect to retaliation, the issues you must decide are, 
one, whether Mr. Lodis reasonably believed that Mr. Shenk made 
ageist comments; and, two, whether Mr. Lodis's alleged 
expressions of concern to Mr. Shenk about these comments was a 
substantial factor in his termination. 

That concludes the instruction. Thank you. 

c. The Trial Court Precludes Lodis from Relitigating Whether He 
Breached a Fiduciary Duty. 

Corbis's motion in limine regarding Lodis's prior breach of fiduciary duty 

sought to prohibit Lodis from denying that such breach had occurred-a fact 

established in two prior trials before two prior juries. Corbis contended that 

Lodis's breach of fiduciary duty was directly relevant to its after-acquired 
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evidence defense, in that Lodis's misconduct would have otherwise led to a 

justified termination, thereby limiting any damages he could recover for what he 

was alleging to be a wrongful, retaliatory termination. In litigating this defense, 

Corbis argued that Lodis should be prohibited under the legal doctrines of law of 

the case and collateral estoppel from denying that his failure to record vacation 

time constituted a breach of his fiduciary duties to Corbis. 

Judge Heller granted Corbis's motion, reasoning as follows: 

As to the second motion, the jury's verdict against Lodis regarding 
breach of fiduciary duty is that law of the case. Lodis will therefore 
not be permitted tore-litigate the issue by arguing, for example, that 
the acceptance of the vacation pay-out after his termination 
precludes a breach of fiduciary duty claim. The focus at trial will be 
on whether Corbis would have terminated Lodis had it known about 
Lodis' failure to record vacation time. 

Judge Heller later ruled that evidence of the verdict from the second jury 

on Corbis's breach of fiduciary duty claim was relevant and, hence, admissible 

under the rules of evidence, reasoning as follows: 

There are some other prior jury verdicts. I am going to allow 
the jury to hear that a prior jury found that Mr. Lodis violated his 
breach of fiduciary duty by failing to record his vacation time .... 

My reasoning for doing that is one of the issues in the after­
acquired evidence defense that will be raised by Corbis is that they 
have to show that Mr. Lodis's conduct was serious. And then, of 
course, they have to show that if they had known about it, they 
would have terminated him. 

The fact that a prior jury found that he breached his fiduciary 
duty is clearly relevant to the seriousness issue. 

5. The Trial Court Allows The Jury To Consider Corbis's After-Acquired 
Evidence Defense. 
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Prior to the third trial, Lodis moved for judgment as a matter of law under 

CR 50 on Corbis's after-acquired evidence defense.8 The trial court denied 

Lodis's motion, reasoning as follows: 

I wanted to address a number of pending motions. The first is 
[Lodis's] motion for judgment as a matter of law on defendants' 
after-acquired evidence defense. 

And the issue that is being argued is whether or not there is 
any actual employment practice of terminating employees for not 
recording vacation. 

[Lodis's counsel] argues that in the absence of any evidence 
of that, there can be no after-acquired evidence defense; it can't be 
based on a statement that "I would have terminated somebody." 

The problem that I have with that argument is that even if 
there has not been a termination based on this kind of conduct, the 
question is: Has there ever been this kind of conduct in the past 
that would warrant termination? 

I know that there are disputes between the parties as to what 
the practice has been and whether or not other employees have 
failed to record vacation. As I understand Corbis's argument, there 
is a difference between not recording an insignificant number of 
days, however one wants to define that, and this situation. 

I think that question really needs to be decided by the jury. 
So based on the reasons that I have already given previously, I will 
allow the after-acquired evidence to go to the jury.C9l 

6. The Third Jury Rules in Corbis's Favor, Rejecting Lodis's Retaliation 
Claim; The Trial Court Denies Lodis's Motion For A New Trial. 

Following an eight-day trial, the third jury returned a verdict in Corbis's 

favor, finding that Corbis had not engaged in retaliation. Lodis filed a motion for 

8 Corbis had previously moved for partial summary judgment on its after-acquired 
evidence defense, arguing that the defense had been established, as a matter of law, because 
there had been a finding that Lodis breached his fiduciary duty, and there was undisputed 
evidence that this breach was a terminable offense. The court acknowledged the validity of 
Corbis's position, yet found that there remained questions of fact for a jury, explaining that "[t]he 
question at this stage is not whether Corbis can establish the elements of the after-acquired 
evidence defense at trial, but whether the evidence is so strong that no reasonable juror could 
find otherwise." 

9 After the jury rendered its verdict, Lodis filed a renewed CR 50 motion on Corbis's after­
acquired evidence defense on identical grounds, which Judge Heller similarly denied. 
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a new trial under CR 59. The trial court denied Lodis's motion and entered 

judgment for Corbis. Lodis now appeals for the second time. 

II 

Lodis first contends that the trial court erred by "precluding" him from 

presenting evidence of his "reasonable belief' of age discrimination and by 

admitting evidence of the age discrimination verdict in Corbis's favor. This is so, 

he asserts, because the evidence of his reasonable belief was relevant but 

evidence of the verdict against him was both irrelevant and unfairly prejudicial. 

We disagree. 

The evidentiary principles of relevancy and prejudice are familiar ones. 

All relevant evidence is admissible. ER 402; Medcalf v. Dep't of 
Licensing, 83 Wn. App. 8, 16, 920 P.2d 228 (1996), aff'd, 133 
Wn.2d 290, 944 P.2d 1014 (1997). "Relevant evidence" is 
"evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact 
that is of consequence to the determination of the action more 
probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." 
ER 401; Medcalf, 83 Wn. App. at 16. Evidence tending to establish 
a party's theory, or to qualify or disprove the testimony of an 
adversary, is relevant evidence. Lamborn v. Phillips Pac. Chern. 
Co., 89 Wn.2d 701, 706, 575 P.2d 215 (1978); Maicke v. RDH. Inc., 
37 Wn. App. 750, 752, 683 P.2d 227 (1984). 

Hayes v. Wieber Enters .. Inc., 105 Wn. App. 611, 617, 20 P.3d 496 (2001). 

Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is 

substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. ER 403. "Evidence 

may be unfairly prejudicial under ER 403 if it is evidence 'dragged in' for the sake 

of its prejudicial effect or is likely to trigger an emotional response rather than a 

rational decision among the jurors." Hayes, 105 Wn. App. at 618 (citing Carson 

v. Fine, 123 Wn.2d 206, 223-24, 867 P.2d 610 (1994)). "The ability of the danger 
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of unfair prejudice to substantially outweigh the probative force of evidence is 

'quite slim' where the evidence is undeniably probative of a central issue in the 

case." Carson, 123 Wn.2d at 224 (quoting United States v. 0.161 Acres of Land, 

837 F.2d 1036, 1041 (11th Cir. 1988)). "[T]he burden of showing prejudice is on 

the party seeking to exclude the evidence." Carson, 123 Wn.2d at 225. 

"ER 403 must be administered in an evenhanded manner." Carson, 123 

Wn.2d at 225. "Because of the trial court's considerable discretion in 

administering ER 403, reversible error is found only in the exceptional 

circumstance of a manifest abuse of discretion." Carson, 123 Wn.2d at 226. 

Lodis assigns error to two trial court rulings regarding the admissibility of 

purported evidence of Shenk's alleged age discrimination. Each ruling is 

addressed, in turn, below. 

However, as a preliminary matter, we note that Lodis confuses the issue 

by resting his claims on the trial court's rulings in limine, even though the trial 

court later reconsidered the pertinent rulings in the course of the proceedings 

based on the parties' conduct at trial. As our Supreme Court has explained: 

A judge may reverse or modify a pretrial ruling at any time prior to 
the entry of final judgment. See State v. Kinard, 39 Wn. App. 871, 
873, 696 P.2d 603, review denied, 103 Wn.2d 1041 (1985). When 
this happens, a party must demonstrate the trial ruling itself was 
erroneous in order to secure a reversal. See State v. Brooks, 20 
Wn. App. 52, 60, 579 P.2d 961 (if evidence is admitted at trial 
contrary to a pretrial order in limine, reversal is not required unless 
the trial ruling was erroneous), review denied, 91 Wn.2d 1001 
(1978). 
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Adcox v. Children's Orthopedic Hosp. & Med. Ctr., 123 Wn.2d 15, 37, 864 P.2d 

921 (1993). Thus, we consider only the trial court's final rulings regarding the 

evidence at issue. 

A 

Lodis first asserts that the trial court erred by "precluding" him from 

presenting evidence of his "reasonable belief' that he opposed discriminatory 

conduct. 10 

As we noted in our prior decision herein: 

The WLAD [Washington Law Against Discrimination] 
protects employees engaged in statutorily protected activity from 
retaliation by their employer. See RCW 49.60.21 0. It provides: 

It is an unfair practice for any employer, employment 
agency, labor union, or other person to discharge, 
expel, or otherwise discriminate against any person 
because he or she has opposed any practices 
forbidden by this chapter, or because he or she has 
filed a charge, testified, or assisted in any proceeding 
under this chapter. 

RCW 49.60.21 0(1) (emphasis added). 

Lodis, 172 Wn. App. at 847-48. The so-called "opposition clause," which 

provides protection when an employee opposes forbidden practices, is at issue 

here. 

"To establish a prima facie case of retaliation under the WLAD, the 

employee must show that (1) he engaged in statutorily protected activity; (2) the 

employer took some adverse employment action against the employee; and (3) 

10 Lodis's briefing on this issue also argues that neither the doctrine of collateral estoppel 
nor the law of the case doctrine provides a basis for the challenged trial court ruling. Because the 
trial court did not rely on either doctrine in rendering its decision, and Corbis does not contend on 
appeal that either doctrine applies, we do not further address these arguments. 
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there is a causal link between the protected activity and the adverse action. "1 1 

Lodis, 172 Wn. App. at 846. '"[A]n employee who opposes employment 

practices reasonably believed to be discriminatory is protected by the "opposition 

clause" whether or not the practice is actually discriminatory.'" Renz v. Spokane 

Eye Clinic. P.S., 114 Wn. App. 611,619,60 P.3d 106 (2002) (alteration in 

original) (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting Graves v. Dep't of Game, 76 

Wn. App. 705, 712, 887 P.2d 424 (1994)); accord Lodis, 172 Wn. App. at 852 

("An employee need only show he had an objectively reasonable belief that his 

employer violated the law, not that the employer did in fact violate the law." (citing 

Ellis v. City of Seattle, 142 Wn.2d 450,460-61, 13 P.3d 1065 (2000))). 

As a preliminary matter, contrary to Lodis's assertion, he was not 

"precluded" from presenting evidence of his reasonable belief that he was 

opposing discriminatory conduct. The record herein demonstrates that, in fact, 

Lodis was permitted to present evidence concerning every one of the five 

instances of allegedly discriminatory conduct that he claimed to have openly 

opposed. 

Notwithstanding that the trial court's ruling permitted him to present 

significant evidence of allegedly discriminatory conduct by Shenk, Lodis 

contends that the trial court erred by prohibiting him from presenting evidence of 

each instance of allegedly discriminatory conduct of which he was aware. 

Lodis's contention overlooks the trial court's discretion to exclude minimally 

11 A retaliatory motive need not be the employer's sole or principal reason for the 
discharge so long as the employee establishes that retaliation was a substantial factor. Wilmot v. 
Kaiser Aluminum & Chern. Corp., 118 Wn.2d 46, 68-69, 821 P.2d 18 (1991); Kahn v. Salerno, 90 
Wn. App. 110, 128-29,951 P.2d 321 (1998). 
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relevant and highly prejudicial evidence. Indeed, the relevance of this evidence 

is questionable. The fact that Lodis did not think that this conduct, unlike the 

conduct that he chose to oppose, was worth mentioning, suggests that evidence 

of the conduct lacks probative value as to whether Lodis reasonably believed that 

he was opposing discriminatory conduct on other occasions. In any case, 

because the excluded evidence did not concern conduct that Lodis openly 

opposed, it was far from the core of Lodis's claim that he was discharged in 

retaliation for opposing discriminatory conduct. 

Moreover, permitting Lodis to present unlimited evidence of alleged 

discriminatory conduct by Shenk would have risked significant, unfair prejudice to 

Corbis. Such evidence would have left the unfair-and purely collateral-

impression that Shenk was an ageist. Furthermore, permitting Lodis to present 

such evidence would have risked jury confusion regarding whether this was 

actually an age discrimination case, rather than the retaliation case that it was 

promoted to be. At a minimum, the presentation of this evidence by Lodis, the 

presentation of rebuttal evidence by Corbis, and the consideration of the sum 

total of that evidence by the jury would have imposed undue cost, delay, and 

inefficiency on the proceedings. 

The trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying Lodis carte blanche 

to introduce evidence of alleged discriminatory conduct, regardless of its 

connection to his claim. 
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8 

Lodis next asserts that the trial court erred by allowing Corbis to present 

evidence of the first jury's verdict against Lodis on his age discrimination claim, 

including the actual verdict form. 

Pursuant to the "long-recognized" "open door" rule, "[g]enerally, once a 

party has raised a material issue, the opposing party is permitted to explain, 

clarify, or contradict the evidence." State v. Berg, 147 Wn. App. 923, 939, 198 

P.3d 529 (2008), abrogated on other grounds, State v. Mutch, 171 Wn.2d 646, 

254 P.3d 803 (2011). Our Supreme Court explained the rule's rationale thusly: 

It would be a curious rule of evidence which allowed one party to 
bring up a subject, drop it at a point where it might appear 
advantageous to him, and then bar the other party from all further 
inquiries about it. Rules of evidence are designed to aid in 
establishing the truth. To close the door after receiving only a part 
of the evidence not only leaves the matter suspended in air at a 
point markedly advantageous to the party who opened the door, but 
might well limit the proof to half-truths. 

State v. Gefeller, 76 Wn.2d 449, 455, 458 P.2d 17 (1969). 

A review of the proceedings leading up to the pertinent trial court ruling is 

illuminating. 

Judge Heller initially ruled that the age discrimination verdict was 

inadmissible. Corbis did not contest or otherwise object to the trial court's ruling, 

conceding that the verdict was irrelevant to the issue of whether Corbis retaliated 

against Lodis for having allegedly admonished Shenk for making age-based 

comments. As the trial progressed, Lodis repeatedly introduced testimony 

concerning alleged age discrimination about which he did not allegedly admonish 

Shenk, in violation of the trial court's ruling. Indeed, even while upholding his 
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ruling that the age discrimination verdict was inadmissible, throughout the 

proceedings, Judge Heller repeatedly cautioned Lodis that he was "taking a bit of 

a risk" in persisting in his efforts to introduce additional evidence of alleged age 

discrimination. 

As a direct result of Lodis's insistence on introducing evidence that unfairly 

left the jury with the implication that Shenk was biased against older workers, 

Judge Heller reversed his prior ruling mid-trial and allowed Corbis to introduce 

the age discrimination verdict in order to "protect" Corbis against any unfair 

conclusion that Shenk had engaged in age discrimination. Specifically 

recognizing that Lodis had introduced "quite a bit of evidence regarding age 

within the context of the retaliation claim," Judge Heller reasoned that admission 

of the prior jury verdict was necessary because Corbis was entitled "to be 

protected from ... [jury] 'shortcuts' ... [inferring] that Mr. Shenk engaged in age 

discrimination." In order to remedy any possible jury confusion resulting from the 

introduction of the age discrimination evidence, the trial court gave the jury a 

limiting instruction emphasizing that the focus of the trial was Lodis's retaliation 

claim, not collateral allegations of age discrimination. 

The trial court's ultimate ruling permitting Corbis to present evidence of the 

first jury's verdict, in order to rebut Lodis's created implication that Shenk was an 

"ageist," was both prudent and even-handed. The challenged ruling, which was 

consistent with the "open door" rule, was not an abuse of the trial court's 

discretion. 
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Ill 

Lodis next contends that the trial court erred by invoking the law of the 

case doctrine to prevent him from presenting evidence with the goal of relitigating 

the second jury's breach of fiduciary duty verdict. Relatedly, he contends that 

evidence of the second jury's verdict was both irrelevant to Corbis's after-

acquired evidence defense and unfairly prejudicial. His contentions are 

unavailing. 

We apply the same principles of relevancy and prejudice summarized 

above. 

A 

Lodis first asserts that the trial court erred by prohibiting him, based on the 

law of the case doctrine, from relitigating the question of whether he breached a 

fiduciary duty owed to Corbis. 

The law of the case doctrine "is often confused with other closely related 

doctrines," Roberson v. Perez, 156 Wn.2d 33, 41, 123 P.3d 844 (2005), all of 

which promote predictability, uniformity, consistency, finality, and efficiency in the 

law, including stare decisis, collateral estoppel (i.e., issue preclusion), and res 

judicata (i.e., claim preclusion). Because this case involves an attempt to 

relitigate a prior claim, the doctrine most related to the law of the case as it 

applies to these circumstances is res judicata. 

A primer on the relationship between these doctrines is helpful. 

Res judicata generally bars not only attempts to relitigate 
matters actually litigated, but also all other matters that should have 
been asserted in the earlier proceeding. In re Estate of Siebrasse, 
[] 722 N.W.2d 86, 90 [(S.D. 2006)]. The "law of the case" doctrine, 
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on the other hand, stands for the general rule that "a question of 
law decided by the [appellate] court on a former appeal becomes 
the law of the case, in all its subsequent stages, and will not 
ordinarily be considered or reversed on a second appeal when the 
facts and the questions of law presented are substantially the 
same." ~ "The 'Jaw of the case' doctrine is the weaker corollary of 
the doctrines of res judicata, collateral estoppel[,} and stare decisis 
and is intended to prove some degree of certainty where those 
doctrines could not yet apply." ~ 

As we previously noted: 
Although the principles of the law of the case doctrine 
and res judicata are similar, their application differs. 
The law of the case rule involves the effect of a 
previous ruling within one action on a similar issue of 
law raised subsequently within the same action. The 
rules of res judicata apply to previous rulings in an 
action on a similar determination in a subsequent 
action. 

~ Thus, "[w]here successive appeals are taken in the same case 
there is no question of res judicata, because the same suit, and not 
a new and different one, is involved." kl 

"The 'law of the case' doctrine is intended to afford a 
measure of finality to litigated issues." Grvnberg Exploration Corp. 
v. Puckett, [] 682 N.W.2d 317, 322 [(S.D. 2004)]. This doctrine has 
many policy considerations: "(1) to protect settled expectations of 
the parties; (2) to insure uniformity of decisions; (3) to maintain 
consistency during the course of a single case; (4) to effectuate the 
proper and streamlined administration of justice; and (5) to bring 
litigation to an end." In re Estate of Jetter, [] 590 N.W.2d 254, 258 
[(S.D. 1999)]. We have cautioned, however, that "the 'law of the 
case' [doctrine] should not be used to perpetuate an erroneous 
decision[.]" Grynberg, [] 682 N.W.2d at 322. Indeed, the doctrine 
"is not a rigid rule, and will not be invoked on a second appeal if the 
prior decision is palpably erroneous and if it is competent for the 
court to correct it on the second appeal." Siebrasse, [] 722 N.W.2d 
at 91. Furthermore, "a court may reopen a previously resolved 
question if the evidence on remand is substantially different or if a 
manifest injustice would otherwise result." lQ. 

In re Pooled Advocate Trust, 813 N.W.2d 130, 139 (S.D. 2012) (some emphasis 

added). 
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Thus, the essential difference between the doctrines is that the law of the 

case doctrine applies to successive proceedings in the same case, whereas res 

judicata is applicable to successive proceedings in different cases. See Pepper 

v. United States, 562 U.S. 476, 506, 131 S. Ct. 1229, 179 L. Ed. 2d 196 (2011) 

("'[A]s most commonly defined, the doctrine posits that when a court decides 

upon a rule of law, that decision should continue to govern the same issues in 

subsequent stages in the same case."' (quoting Arizona v. California, 460 U.S. 

605, 618, 103 S. Ct. 1382, 75 L. Ed. 2d 318 (1983)) (emphasis added))); Lusardi 

v. Curtis Point Prop. Owners Ass'n, 86 N.J. 217, 226 n.2, 430 A.2d 881 (1981) 

(The law of the case doctrine "applies only to proceedings prior to the entry of a 

final judgment. After that, rules of res judicata determine whether a prior 

determination of law or fact is binding."). 

'"The law of the case principle relates to (a) the binding force of trial court 

rulings during later stages of the trial, (b) the conclusive effects of appellate 

rulings at trial on remand, and (c) the rule that an appellate court will ordinarily 

not reconsider its own rulings of law on a subsequent appeal."' Arceneaux v. 

Amstar Corp., 66 So.3d 438, 448 (La. 2011) (quoting Petition of Sewerage & 

Water Bd. of New Orleans, 278 So.2d 81, 84 (La. 1973)); accord Mun. of San 

Juan v. Rullan, 318 F.3d 26,29 (1st Cir. 2003) ("[The law of the case] doctrine 

has two components: 'One branch involves the so-called mandate rule [ ]which, 

with only a few exceptions, forbids, among other things, a lower court from 

relitigating issues that were decided by a higher court, wh.ether explicitly or by 

reasonable implication, at an earlier stage of the same case[). The other branch 
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... provides that unless corrected by an appellate tribunal, a legal decision made 

at one stage of a civil or criminal case constitutes the law of the case throughout 

the pendency of the litigation."' (quoting Ellis v. United States, 313 F.3d 636,646 

(1st Cir. 2002)) (alteration in original)). 

In Washington, the principles of the law of the case doctrine are 

memorialized in the Rules of Appellate Procedure. Roberson, 156 Wn.2d at 41; 

State v. Worl, 129 Wn.2d 416, 424, 918 P.2d 905 (1996) (describing RAP 2.5(c) 

as "codifying the law of the case doctrine"). RAP 2.5, which relates to the scope 

of appellate review, provides, in pertinent part: 

(c) Law of the Case Doctrine Restricted. The following 
provisions apply if the same case is again before the appellate 
court following a remand: 

(1) Prior Trial Court Action. If a trial court decision is 
otherwise properly before the appellate court, the appellate court 
may at the instance of a party review and determine the propriety of 
a decision of the trial court even though a similar decision was not 
disputed in an earlier review of the same case. 

(2) Prior Appellate Court Decision. The appellate court may 
at the instance of a party review the propriety of an earlier decision 
of the appellate court in the same case and, where justice would 
best be served, decide the case on the basis of the appellate 
court's opinion of the law at the time of the later review. 

"By using the term 'may,' RAP 2.5(c)(2) is written in discretionary, rather 

than mandatory, terms. The plain language of the rule affords appellate courts 

discretion in its application." Roberson, 156 Wn.2d at 42; see Folsom v. County 

of Spokane, 111 Wn.2d 256, 264, 759 P .2d 1196 ( 1988). 

The same discretion is not afforded to the trial court on remand from the 

appellate court. '"Upon the retrial, the parties and the trial court [are] all bound by 
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the law as made by the decision on the first appeal. On appeal therefrom, the 

parties and this court are bound by that decision unless and until authoritatively 

overruled."' Bunn v. Bates, 36 Wn.2d 100, 103, 216 P.2d 741 (1950) (quoting 

Baxter v. Ford Motor Co., 179 Wash. 123, 127, 35 P.2d 1090 (1934)). This 

principle is reflected in RAP 12.2, relating to the procedure following issuance of 

an appellate court decision, which provides, in relevant part: 

Upon issuance of the mandate of the appellate court ... , the 
action taken or decision made by the appellate court is effective 
and binding on the parties to the review and governs all subsequent 
proceedings in the action in any court, ... except as provided in 
rule 2.5(c)(2). After the mandate has issued, the trial court may, 
however, hear and decide postjudgment motions otherwise 
authorized by statute or court rule so long as those motions do not 
challenge issues already decided by the appellate court. 

(Emphasis added.) 

RAP 12.2 is consistent with the general principle that "'the decision of the 

appellate court establishes the law of the case and it must be followed by the trial 

court on remand."' United States v. Rivera-Martinez, 931 F.2d 148, 150 (1st Cir. 

1991) {quoting 1 B J. MOORE, J. LUCAS, & T. CURRIER, MOORE'S FEDERAL PRACTICE 

~ 0.404[1] (2d ed. 1991)); accord Nattah v. Bush, 770 F. Supp. 2d 193, 201 

(D.D.C. 2011) ("Under the law of the case doctrine, [the trial court] may not revisit 

any issues that it has previously resolved, nor may it re-evaluate the merits of 

any disputes settled by the [appellate court] on appeal."). 

Herein, Lodis sought to present evidence attacking a prior jury's verdict 

finding that he breached his fiduciary duty. Relitigating the jury's verdict was the 

only purpose for which the evidence was proffered. Importantly, Lodis had 

already challenged that verdict in his first appeal to this court. At that time, we 
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rejected Lodis's claims of error and affirmed the verdict. The jury's finding that 

Lodis had breached a fiduciary duty owed to Corbis by failing to record vacation 

time thus became the law of the case. 

Because the law of the case doctrine prohibited Lodis from relitigating the 

jury's verdict in the trial court, whether Lodis breached a fiduciary duty owed to 

Corbis was not a fact at issue in the proceedings on remand. Therefore, the 

evidence that Lodis sought to have admitted was not material. The trial court did 

not abuse its discretion by excluding irrelevant evidence. To the contrary, it 

properly declined Lodis's invitation to undermine both the jury's verdict and the 

appellate court's mandate in contravention of the law of the case doctrine. 

B 

Lodis next asserts that the trial court erred "in admitting testimony 

regarding the second jury verdict and ... the actual second jury's verdict on 

Corbis' breach of fiduciary duty counter-claim." Br. of Appellant at 4. 

Preliminarily, we note that Lodis's argument regarding the breach of 

fiduciary duty verdict is muddled. At times, it is presented as inextricably linked 

to Lodis's relitigation argument-that is, he seems to be arguing that, because he 

should have been permitted to relitigate whether he had breached a fiduciary 

duty owed to Corbis, the jury's verdict that he, in fact, did so lacks relevance. 

Given our resolution of the immediately preceding issue, to the extent that Lodis 

so argues, his claim fails. 

At other times, Lodis seems make an argument similar to his argument 

regarding the first jury's age discrimination verdict-that is, he argues that, even 
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though evidence of the misconduct that constituted a breach of his fiduciary duty 

was admissible, evidence of the second jury's verdict, including the actual verdict 

form, should not have been admitted in light of the principles of relevancy and 

prejudice. This version of his argument was presented to the trial court. 

After the trial court granted Corbis's motion precluding Lodis from 

relitigating the breach of fiduciary duty claim, Lodis attempted to parse the jury's 

finding that Lodis had failed to record vacation time from its verdict that he 

breached a fiduciary duty owed to Corbis, arguing: 

He [(Lodis)] cannot say that "I did not fail to record my vacation." 
We accept that. That has nothing to do with whether or not they get 
to hear breach of fiduciary duty. That's a whole separate issue 
because it is only relevant on the issue of after-acquired evidence. 
And it's not the breach that's relevant; it's the failure to record 
because Shenk alone will say, "I would have fired him for that." 

So I think that's pretty straightforward, Your Honor. They 
don't get to say breach of fiduciary duty. 

Lodis's argument fails to recognize that the fact that Lodis's failure to record 

vacation time constituted a breach of a fiduciary duty owed to Corbis was 

separately relevant to Corbis's after-acquired evidence defense. 

"The 'after-acquired evidence' doctrine precludes or limits an employee 

from receiving remedies for wrongful discharge if the employer later 'discovers' 

evidence of wrongdoing that would have led to the employee's termination had 

the employer known of the misconduct." Rivera v. NIBCO. Inc., 364 F.3d 1057, 

1070-71 (9th Cir. 2004) (quoting McKennon v. Nashville Banner Publ'g Co., 513 

U.S. 352, 360-63, 115 S. Ct. 879, 130 L. Ed. 2d 852 (1995)). An employer can 

avoid back pay and other remedies by coming forward with after-acquired 

evidence of an employee's misconduct, but only if it can prove by a 
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preponderance of the evidence "that the wrongdoing was of such severity that 

the employee in fact would have been terminated on those grounds alone if the 

employer had known of it at the time of the discharge." McKennon, 513 U.S. at 

362-63) (emphasis added); accord Janson v. N. Valley Hosp., 93 Wn. App. 892, 

971 P.2d 67 (1999) (adopting after-acquired evidence defense as articulated in 

McKennon). 

Herein, the second jury found not only that Lad is had improperly failed to 

record his vacation time, but also that this misconduct constituted a breach of a 

fiduciary duty that he owed to Corbis. As the trial court noted, this second finding 

significantly elevates the perceived seriousness of Lodis's misconduct. 

Therefore, the jury's breach of fiduciary duty verdict against Lodis was 

independently relevant to Garbis's after-acquired evidence defense, particularly 

whether Lodis's misconduct was of "such severity" that Shenk would have 

discharged him on that basis alone. Furthermore, given the sprawling nature of 

the litigation herein, the trial court's effort to limit the issues by permitting 

evidence of Lodis's misconduct to be presented in an abridged manner, in the 

context of the jury's determination that he breached a fiduciary duty, was well-

founded. 12 

The trial court did not abuse its direction in admitting evidence of the 

second jury's breach of fiduciary duty verdict. 

12 The same concern for reigning in the proceedings in order to avoid jury confusion 
explains the trial court's decisions (1) to refuse to give an instruction on the elements of breach of 
fiduciary duty (a claim that, after all, was not directly at issue therein), and (2) to limit the 
presentation of evidence regarding the claims that had been at issue in the second trial. 
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IV 

Lodis next contends that the trial court erred by allowing the jury to 

consider Corbis's "after-acquired evidence" affirmative defense. This is so, he 

asserts, because "Corbis presented insufficient evidence for the after-acquired 

evidence defense ... to be presented to the jury." His contention is unavailing. 

CR 50(a)(1), regarding motions for judgment as a matter of law, provides: 

If, during a trial by jury, a party has been fully heard with respect to 
an issue and there is no legally sufficient evidentiary basis for a 
reasonable jury to find or have found for that party with respect to 
that issue, the court may grant a motion for judgment as a matter of 
law against the party on any claim ... that cannot under the 
controlling law be maintained without a favorable finding on that 
issue. 

"Granting a motion for judgment as a matter of law is appropriate when, 

viewing the evidence most favorable to the nonmoving party, the court can say, 

as a matter of law, there is no substantial evidence or reasonable inference to 

sustain a verdict for the nonmoving party." Sing v. John L. Scott. Inc., 134 Wn.2d 

24, 29, 948 P.2d 816 (1997). "Such a motion can be granted only when it can be 

said, as a matter of law, that there is no competent and substantial evidence 

upon which the verdict can rest." State v. Hall, 74 Wn.2d 726, 727, 446 P.2d 323 

(1968). "Substantial evidence is said to exist if it is sufficient to persuade a fair-

minded, rational person of the truth of the declared premise." Brown v. Superior 

Underwriters, 30 Wn. App. 303, 306, 632 P.2d 887 (1980). 

When reviewing a motion for judgment as a matter of law, appellate courts 

apply the same standard as the trial court. Guijosa v. Wai-Mart Stores. Inc., 144 

Wn.2d 907, 915, 32 P.3d 250 (2001). 

-27-

A-27 



No. 72342-1-1/28 

Lodis contends that he was entitled to judgment as a matter of law on 

Garbis's after-acquired evidence defense. 

As summarized above, pursuant to the after-acquired evidence defense, 

an employer can avoid back pay and other remedies for wrongful discharge by 

coming forward with evidence of an employee's misconduct that was acquired 

after the discharge, but only if it can prove by a preponderance of the evidence 

"that the employee in fact would have been terminated on those grounds alone if 

the employer had known of it at the time of the discharge." McKennon, 513 U.S. 

at 362-63. 

In order to carry its burden, an employer is not required "to come forward 

with proof that they discharged other employees for the precise misconduct at 

issue (though such evidence would no doubt be helpful to their case)." O'Day v. 

McDonnell Douglas Helicopter Co., 79 F.3d 756, 762 (9th Cir.1996). An 

employer may prevail, for example, by proffering testimony that the employee 

would have been terminated that is "corroborated both by the company policy, 

which plausibly could be read to require discharge for the conduct at issue here, 

and by common sense." O'Day, 79 F.3d at 762. 

Here, Corbis presented substantial evidence based upon which the jury 

could have rendered a verdict in its favor. Garbis's "Code of Conduct" expressly 

"forbid[s] certain behaviors []based on common sense guidelines," including (1) 

"[f]alsification or misrepresentation of company records ... includ[ing] ... time 

reports"; (2) "[v]iolation of any Corbis policy";13 and (3) "[a]ny activity that has an 

13 Lodis's failure to record vacation time violated Corbis's time reporting policy. 
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adverse effect on the company's interests." Shenk testified that engaging in any 

of these impermissible behaviors is a ground for termination at Corbis and that, 

as such, he would have terminated Lodis when he learned of his failure to record 

any vacation time.14 The fact that a prior jury found that Lodis's conduct 

constituted a breach of his fiduciary duties of undivided loyalty and care 

establishes that Lodis's actions were "adverse [to] the company's interests" and 

underscores their severity and seriousness. Moreover, common sense suggests 

that a CEO would terminate the highest ranking human resources officer-the 

self-proclaimed "moral compass" of the company-and member of his executive 

team upon discovering that the executive had failed to record a single hour of 

vacation throughout the duration of his employment, despite taking more than 89 

days off, in violation of the very policies he was responsible for enforcing. 15 

14 Shenk was unequivocal that he would have terminated Lodis. 
Q: If Mr. Lodis had still been employed by Corbis in October of 2008 at the time 
that you discovered these events, what would you have done? 
A I would have fired him. 
15 Lodis makes three assertions in support of his contention to the contrary, none of 

which are supported by the record. 
First, he asserts that "Corbis's own witness, Vivian Farris, the senior vice president of 

human resources (and Mr. Lodis's replacement) testified on direct that it was not "a terminable 
offense" to fail to record vacation time, even though it was a violation of company policy." Br. of 
Appellant at 47. However, the report of proceedings to which Lodis cites in support of this 
assertion, if it exists, was not designated on appeal. Thus, we do not further address this 
assertion. See Rhinevault v. Rhinevault, 91 Wn. App. 688, 692, 959 P.2d 687 (1998) ("[T)he 
appellant bears the burden of complying with the Rules of Appellate Procedure [ ] and perfecting 
his record on appeal so the reviewing court has before it all the evidence relevant to deciding the 
issues before it. The court may decline to reach the merits of an issue if this burden is not met." 
(citation omitted)). 

Second, Lodis asserts that "[t]he evidence showed that Corbis knew ... that others in 
similar positions did the same thing." Br of Appellant at 47-48. In support of this assertion, Lodis 
cites to the trial court's letter ruling denying Lodis's pretrial CR 50 motion for judgment as a matter 
of law on Corbis's defense. However, Lodis offers no support for the proposition that, at trial, he 
presented any evidence that people in positions similar to Lodis engaged in comparable 
misconduct. 

Finally, Lodis asserts that "[t]he evidence showed that Corbis knew ... that Lodis was not 
recording his vacation time, and that it did not mention that as a basis for his termination or 
withhold his vacation payout, see Ex. 108." Br. of Appellant 47. In fact, however, Lodis cites no 
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Because Corbis presented substantial evidence in support of its after­

acquired evidence defense, the trial court did not err by refusing to grant 

judgment as a matter of law thereon in Lodis's favor. 16.17 

Affirmed. 

We concur: 

J:J , 

evidence suggesting that Corbis was aware of Lodis's misconduct before his termination. The 
exhibit upon which Lodis relies establishes that, after Lodis had been terminated, Mitchell, 
Corbis's general counsel, was made aware that Lodis had failed to record significant vacation 
time. 

16 Related to this issue, Lodis also asserts that prejudicial character evidence of his 
failure to report vacation time should not have been presented to the jury. This argument 
presumably hinges on his argument that he was entitled to judgment as a matter of law on 
Corbis's defense, since the evidence is clearly relevant to that defense. To the extent that Lodis 
is intending to argue that some particular evidence, though relevant to Corbis's defense, was 
unfairly prejudicial, his argument fails because he does not assign error to any of the trial court's 
evidentiary rulings. 

17 Lodis also assigns error to the trial court's denial of his motion for a new trial but does 
not present argument relative to that assignment. Therefore, we do not further address this 
claim. Skagit County Pub. Hosp. Dist. No. 1 v. Dep't of Revenue, 158 Wn. App. 426, 440, 242 
P.3d 909 (201 0) ("An appellant waives an assignment of error [by] fail(ing] to present argument or 
citation to authority in support of that assignment.") 
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IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

STEVEN LODIS and DEBORAH 
LODIS, a marital community, 

Appellants, 

v. 

CORBIS HOLDINGS, INC., a 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Washington corporation; CORBIS ) 
CORPORATION, a Nevada corporation;) 
and GARY SHENK, an individual, ) 

Respondents. 
) 
) ________________________ ) 

DIVISION ONE 

No. 72342-1-1 

ORDER DENYING 
APPELLANTS' MOTION 
FOR RECONSIDERATION 

The appellants having filed a motion for reconsideration herein, and a majority 

of the panel having determined that the motion should be denied; now, therefore, it 

is hereby 

ORDERED that the motion for reconsideration be, and the same is, hereby 

denied.1 

Dated this 16th day of February, 2016. 

FOR THE COURT: 

~4-

1 One item bears mention. Lodis takes exception to the court's statement in footnote 15 
that he did not properly perfect the record with regard to the testimony of witness Farris. In his 
merits briefing, Lodis twice provided the following citation to the record for this testimony: "RP 
(May 3, 2010), at 63, 35, 40." Br. of Appellant at 47 and Br. of Appellant at 28. In his 
reconsideration motion, Lodis-without acknowledgment of error-now contends that the 
testimony is located in the transcript of a proceeding of March 3, 2010. 

March 3 is not May 3. 
"Judges are not like pigs, hunting for truffles buried in briefs." United States v. Dunkel, 

927 F .2d 955, 956 (7th Cir. 1991 ). The same is true of record citations. The testimony 
referenced was read to the jury on May 27, 2014. It was not transcribed on that day. At Lodis's 
request, this court afforded him the grace of submitting the original testimony (from a different 
proceeding) as the record testimony in this case. As footnote 15 correctly notes, no transcript of 
a May 3, 2010 proceeding was provided. That Lodis twice cited incorrectly to the record 
regarding the date of Farris's testimony is solely and entirely his fault. His errors do not warrant 
revision of the court's opinion. 
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